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A REPORT ON A WATCHING BRIEF AT ATCHAM BRIDGE, SHROPSHIRE 
by Roger White, BA, PhD, MIF A 

Summary 
This report describes the findings from a small-scale excavation on Atcham Bridge, 
Shropshire (SAM 11; SMR 125) in advance of engineering works by Severn Trent Water Ltd. 
In order to put the excavation in context, some historical background is given. This is 
followed by a description ofthe location ofthe excavation and of the results. 

Introduction 
The Field Archaeology Unit were commissioned by Severn Trent Water to oversee the 
excavation of a lining hole on the Severn Bridge at Atcham, Shropshire on 4th February 2000 
(Fig. 1). The lining hole was being excavated as part of an on-going programme of water 
main relining using concrete grout. As a Scheduled Ancient Monument, it was a requirement 
of the consent for the work granted by the Secretary of State that any intervention on the 
bridge is appropriately monitored archaeologically and a report prepared on the results. It was 
not considered necessary to have an archaeologist in attendance during the relining process 
nor during the reinstatement since this was unlikely to further affect the archaeology: 

Historical background 
The Severn bridge at Atcham, a 'hump-bridge of seven arches' (Pevsner 1958, 66) was 
designed and built between 1769-71 by John Gwynn, a contemporary and friend ofDr 
Johnson. The schedule listing the structure as Grade II* fills out this rather disparaging note, 
bringing out its local importance aesthetically, and regionally as a fine.example of this period 
of bridge building (DoE 1973). It is worth quoting the listing in extensio. 

Humped back bridge of 7 graded round arches with banded rusticated soffits and 
voussoirs, triple keystones consisting of fluted outer stones flanking central stone 
with vermiculated rustication, and separated by breakwaters with concave caps; 
outer pedestrian arches with banded rusticated surrounds and keystones with 
vermiculated rustication; string above arches; coped parapet, ramped up to central 
pedimented datestones and buttressed by small carved scrolls at approaches where 
lower parapets curve out to pyramidal end-piers. Evidence of former railings 
flanking central parapet datestones. Lugged half-H datestones inscribed: 

THlSBRIDGE 
Was erected at the Expense of the County 

MDCCLXXVI 
JOHN GWYNN Arch 

The bridge was built in Grinshill sandstone and it is clear from contemporary documentation 
that there were considerable problems in securing the foundations of the bridge in the gravel 
bed of the Severn. These problems, combined with ice floes in the Severn, had destroyed the 
central span of the previous Atcham bridge in 1755. In 1768, the decision was taken to 
replace the old bridge and initially, the architect chosen was Richard Buddle of London. He 
failed to make much progress, however, and was rapidly replaced in 1769 by John Gwynn 
who had considerable local experience as the architect of the English Bridge at Shrewsbury, 
as well as the Severn Bridge at Worcester and the Magdalen Bridge in Oxford. It took a 
further seven years to complete the bridge at a cost of £7,339 6s lOd (anon 1929; Blackwall 
1985, 12-13). 

The construction of the new ferro-concrete bridge in 1929 has obscured the former fine views 
ofGwynn's bridge (Figs.4 & 5) but fortunately the decision was taken to retain the old bridge 
rather than demolish it. It was located up-stream of the old bridge, requiring a minor 
adjustment to the main road, as can be seen from comparison between the first edition 
Ordnance Survey map and the site plan (Figs. 2 & 3). 





Conclusions The lining hole on Atcham Bridge allowed an examination of the bridge deck and bed. The 
last appeared to be a layer of concrete that presumably overlies the stone of the bridge itself. 
Over this was a layer of compacted clay with occasional small stone pieces that formed the 
foundation for a modem road surface oftarmac. Unfortunately, there was no trace of the 

original eighteenth-century road deck. 
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Fig. 1: Location map showing Atchani in relation to Shrewsbury and Telford. 
Fig. 2: Site olan showing location of lining hole. 
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3: John Gwynn's bridge as shown on the 1st edn. 25" Ordance Survey map of 1880 



SRR PC/A/27,1 

SRR PC/ A/27 ,2 

Fig.4&5: Two Postcard views, from north and south, of John Gwynn's bridge, before the 

construction of the new bridge in 1929 



Fig.6: A photograph of the lining hole showing its relationship to the bridge, looking east 
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